
 

 

AUDIT 
2.00 pm MONDAY, 12TH OCTOBER, 2020 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for training 
purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being filmed 
and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 

member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 
725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 

found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers  

AGENDA 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Wales Audit Office - Financial Sustainability 
Assessment - Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council and Audit Wales National Financial 
Sustainability Report  

 

 To receive the reports of the Wales Audit Office / 
Audit Wales 
 

3 - 34 

4. Audit Wales Presentation - Raising our Game: 
Tackling Fraud in Wales  

 

 To receive a Presentation from Audit Wales. 
 

35 - 46 

5. Internal Audit Plan 2020/21   

 To receive the report of the Head of the Regional 
Internal Audit Service 
 

47 - 52 

6. Internal Audit Information Reports   

 To receive copies of Published Internal Audit 
reports for Members Information 
 

53 - 54 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

 

 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors     C T Jones (Chair) 
                       D Roberts (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors:     D Chaplin, J Davies, T Rogers, 

D Sammon, C Tovey and J Thomas 
 
Lay Member(s): R Williams 
 
Together with appropriate officers 
 

  
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

Financial Sustainability Assessment – 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 
Audit year: 2019-20 

Date issued: March 2020 

Document reference: 1780A2020-21 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

This document has been prepared for the internal use of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council as 
part of work performed/to be performed in accordance with Section 17 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 

2004 and section 18 of the Local Government Wales Measure 2009. 

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General or the staff of the Wales Audit Office in relation to 
any member, director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or to any third party. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is 
drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
The section 45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 

authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 

disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 
infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh. 

The team who delivered the work comprised Ian Phillips, Helen Goddard and Sara-Jane Byrne under 
the direction of Huw Rees. 

 

 

Page 4

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Despite a higher than expected settlement, the Council’s financial position is still 
challenging, and failure to deliver to budget or make planned savings risks depleting 
reserves to a low level. 

Summary report 4 

Detailed report 

Despite a higher than expected settlement, the Council’s financial position is still 
challenging, and failure to deliver to budget or make planned savings risks depleting 
reserves to a low level 7 

7 

8 

9  

10 

12 

While the Council’s medium-term financial plan sets out its forecast budget 
deficits, it does not set out how the Council is going to quickly improve its  
financial sustainability 

The Council’s performance against budget has fluctuated in recent years and it 
has therefore used a significant amount of reserves to finance the shortfall 

The Council needs to identify and deliver recurrent efficiency savings which will 
help to reduce the budget gap over the medium to long term 

The Council is taking action to strengthen its low level of reserves and improve 
its financial resilience to unforeseen budget pressures 

The Council has a relatively low council tax collection rate which decreased in 
2018-19 to its lowest since 2011-12 

The Council has a relatively low level of borrowing and interest costs and has no 
borrowing to fund commercial activities 13 

Page 5



Summary report 

Page 4 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Summary 

What we reviewed and why 
1 The project sought to assess the sustainability of councils’ short to medium-term 

financial position.  

2 This included a focus on the financial strategy of each council as well as reviewing 
financial ‘indicators’ of each council’s financial position in relation to: 
• Performance against budget  

• Delivery of savings plans  

• Use of reserves  
• Council tax  

• Borrowing  

Exhibit 1: about the Council  

This exhibit sets out some background information on the Council’s net revenue budget, 
the number of staff it employs and the value of its fixed assets. 

   
The Council’s net 

revenue budget for 
2019-20 was £120m 

The Council employs 
around 2,600 people 

The Council’s fixed 
assets as at 31 March 

2019 were £260m 

Source: Statement of Accounts 2018-19, staff costs working paper 2018-19 

3 We undertook this assessment because we identified financial sustainability as a 
risk to councils putting in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in 
the use of resources. In part, this was informed by the recent experiences of some 
councils in England, our knowledge of the financial situation in councils in Wales, 
and the general trend of decreasing resources for local government combined with 
rising demand for some services.  

  

Page 6



 

Page 5 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Exhibit 2: the Council’s sources of revenue  

The pie chart below shows how much money the Council received from different funding 
sources during 2018-19. 

 

Source: MTCBC Financial Sustainability Self Assessment 

4 We undertook the review during the period November 2019 to January 2020. 

What we found 
5 Overall we found that despite a higher than expected settlement, the Council’s 

financial position is still challenging, and failure to deliver to budget or make 
planned savings risks depleting reserves to a low level. We reached this 
conclusion because: 
• while the Council’s medium-term financial plan sets out its forecast budget 

deficits, it does not set out how the Council is going to quickly improve its 
financial sustainability; 

• the Council’s performance against budget has fluctuated in recent years and 
it has therefore used a significant amount of reserves to finance the shortfall; 

• the Council needs to identify and deliver recurrent efficiency savings which 
will help to reduce the budget gap over the medium to long term; 

71

19

27

25

11 2

Revenue sources in £m

Revenue support grant National non domestic rates

Council tax Specific grants

Fees and charges Other

Page 7



 

Page 6 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

• the Council is taking action to strengthen its low level of reserves and 
improve its financial resilience to unforeseen budget pressures; 

• the Council has a relatively low council tax collection rate which decreased 
in 2018-19 to its lowest since 2011-12; and 

• the Council has a relatively low level of borrowing and interest costs and has 
no borrowing to fund commercial activities. 

 

Page 8



Detailed report 

Page 7 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Despite a higher than expected settlement, the 
Council’s financial position is still challenging, and 
failure to deliver to budget or make planned 
savings risks depleting reserves to a low level 

While the Council’s medium-term financial plan sets out its 
forecast budget deficits, it does not set out how the Council is 
going to quickly improve its financial sustainability 

Why strategic financial planning is important 

6 A clear and robust financial strategy is important to identify the likely level of 
funding available to a council, as well as the anticipated level of demand for, and 
cost of, providing services. Given the recent and anticipated funding pressures 
facing all councils it is also important to identify how it intends to respond to those 
pressures, and particularly how they will meet projected funding gaps. 

What we found 

7 It is well documented that the Council has had significant financial difficulties in 
recent years.1  

8 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2019-20 to 2022-23 published in March 
2019 was based on reasonable projections and assumptions at that time. 

9 The MTFP as at March 2019 projected a 2020-21 deficit of £8.1 million, which was 
unprecedented for the Council. The projected cumulative deficit at that time for the 
three-year period to 2022-23 was £15.0 million. 

10 In December 2019 the Welsh Government announced a 4.8% increase to the 
Council’s revenue support grant for 2020-21. The January 2020 Cabinet report on 
the Revenue Budget 2020-21 sets out that this increase has, in large part, 
contributed to the Council’s projected deficit for 2020-21 reducing to zero from £8.1 
million. 

11 The focus of the MTFP is primarily on annual budget setting and the Council needs 
to consider how it is going to meet its longer-term budget gap, including 
strengthening the links between its plans to transform its services and its MTFP. 

12 The Council has implemented and continues to explore options to improve its 
financial resilience. Sustainability initiatives and workstreams aimed to help 
address the budget gap have been re-focussed and are hence in their early stages 

 
1 2018-19 Annual Improvement Report including 2017-18 Annual Audit Letter on page 18 
and September 2019 External Advisor Scoping Review 

Page 9

https://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/merthyr_council_air_2018_19_english.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/inline-documents/2019-10/191024%20-%20JJ%20-%20John%20Gilbert%27s%20SCOPING%20REVIEW.pdf


 

Page 8 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

of development. The external adviser appointed by the Welsh Government in the 
summer of 2019 felt there were too many workstreams for the existing capacity 
within the Council to focus upon and they have since been slightly streamlined. 

Exhibit 3: projected funding gap  

The following graph shows the cumulative funding gap that the Council has identified for 
2020-21 to 2022-23. The figure for 2020-21 does not reflect the updated figure following 
the provisional settlement announced in December 2019. 

 

Source: MTFP 2020-21 to 2022-23 March 2019 

The Council’s performance against budget has fluctuated in 
recent years and it has therefore used a significant amount of 
reserves to finance the shortfall 

Why accurately forecasting expenditure is important 

13 It is important that overspending and underspending are kept under control and 
that actual expenditure is as close to the levels planned as possible. A council that 
is unable to accurately forecast and plan expenditure runs the risk of creating 
unforeseen financial pressures that may compromise the ability to set a balanced 
budget. Significant patterns of underspending may be reducing the ability of a 
council to deliver its key objectives or meet its statutory responsibilities. 

  

8.1 

11.5 

15.0 

 -

 2.0

 4.0

 6.0

 8.0

 10.0

 12.0

 14.0

 16.0

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

£m

Page 10



 

Page 9 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

What we found 

14 The Council’s overall financial performance against budget fluctuates. In 2017-18 
the Council had an unexpected surplus of £1.3 million, mainly due to a one-off 
budget underspend within Social Services (independent residential 
establishments). In 2018-19 there was a deficit of £0.6 million, with a significant 
overspend of £1.4 million in Social Services. These figures are after contributions 
from reserves, which were £1.4 million in 2017-18 and £1.9 million in 2018-19. 

15 There is a trend for increased costs within Education for children with additional 
learning needs, and within Social Services with regard to Looked After Children. 
Continuing cost pressures and increased demands for these two service sectors 
alone resulted in combined additional funding of circa £5.4 million approved for the 
2019-20 financial year. 

Exhibit 4: amount of overspend/underspend relative to total net revenue budget  

The following exhibit shows the amount of overspend or underspend for the Council’s 
overall net revenue budget for the last two years and also the year to date as at 31 
December 2019. 
 
 Original 

Budget net 
revenue 
budget 

Actual 
Outturn net 
revenue 
budget 

Amount of overall 
surplus/overspend 

Percentage 
difference 
from net 
revenue 
budget 

2017-18 £114.8m £113.5m £1.3m surplus 1.1% surplus 
2018-19 £117.5m £118.0m £0.5m overspend 0.4% 

overspend 
2019-20 £120.3m £118.6m2 £1.7m surplus3 1.4% surplus 

Source: MTCBC Financial Sustainability Self Assessment, Revenue budget monitoring 
2019-20 quarter 3 

The Council needs to identify and deliver recurrent efficiency 
savings which will help to reduce the budget gap over the 
medium to long term 

Why the ability to identify and deliver savings plans is important 

16 The ability to identify areas where specific financial savings can be made, and to 
subsequently make those savings, is a key aspect of ensuring ongoing financial 

 
2 This figure is the forecast outturn as at 31 December 2019. 
3 As at 30 September 2019 an overspend of £0.1 million was forecast. 

Page 11



 

Page 10 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

sustainability against a backdrop of increasing financial pressures. Where savings 
plans are not delivered this can result in overspends that require the use of limited 
reserves whilst increasing the level of savings required in future years to 
compensate for this. Where savings plans are not delivered and service areas are 
required to make unplanned savings, this increases the risk either of savings not 
being aligned to the Council’s priorities, or of ‘short-term’ solutions that are not 
sustainable over the medium term. 

What we found 

17 While the Council has a good track record of delivering savings, the magnitude of 
its financial deficits makes it difficult to achieve a sustainable financial balance. 

18 For the period 2016-17 to 2019-20 (projected) the Council has achieved around 
94% of its planned savings. These savings have been mainly based on cuts in 
service budgets, with the MTFP recording them as assumed savings in the 
calculation of the budget deficits. However such savings are not, of themselves, 
the answer to addressing the budget gap over the medium to long term. 

Exhibit 5: savings delivered during 2018-19 as a percentage of planned savings  

The following exhibit sets how much money the Council intended to save through 
planned savings during 2018-19 and how much of this it actually saved. 

 

£2.8m £2.7m £0.1m 96.4% 
Total planned 

savings  
Planned savings 

delivered  
Planned savings not 

delivered  
Percentage 

savings achieved 

Source: Change and Wellbeing Programme Quarter 4 2018-19 

The Council is taking action to strengthen its low level of 
reserves and improve its financial resilience to unforeseen 
budget pressures  

Why sustainable management of reserves is important 

19 Healthy levels of useable reserves are an important safety net to support financial 
sustainability. As well as being available to fund unexpected funding pressures, 
useable reserves can also be an important funding source to support ‘invest to 
save’ initiatives designed to reduce the ongoing cost of providing services. 
Councils that show a pattern of unplanned use of reserves to plug gaps in their 
revenue budget that result in reductions of reserve balances reduce their resilience 
to fund unforeseen budget pressures in future years.  

Page 12



 

Page 11 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

What we found 

20 The Council held £12.6 million of useable reserves at 31 March 2019. 

21 The Council’s Corporate Reserves Policy states that general reserves should 
remain at 3.5% to 4% of the Council’s annual budget net revenue expenditure.  

22 For 2018-19 the Council used £1.9 million of its useable reserves as budgeted, 
there was no use of general reserves. For 2019-20 the Council originally budgeted 
to use £1.8 million of earmarked useable reserves and £0.5 million of general 
reserves, which would have reduced its general reserves to the lower limit of its 
Corporate Reserves policy. However, the current forecast outturn for 2019-20 
excludes any use of general reserves, with the use of earmarked useable reserves 
reducing to £0.6 million.  

23 However, latest in-year forecasts indicate that the Council will not need to use its 
reserves to the extent originally anticipated in 2019-20 and may in fact grow its 
reserves. 

24 On 10 December 2019, Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee approved a one-
off redistribution of £1.5 million of its general reserves to Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council and the Council on a proportionate 52%/48% split. This 
resulted in the Council receiving a one-off £0.7 million in 2019-20 and an estimated 
recurring annual distribution of approximately £350,000 to the Councils in the same 
proportion. 

25 Under legislation local authorities are required to charge to their revenue account 
for each financial year a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to account for the 
cost of their debt in that financial year. On 18 December 2019, the Council 
approved a revision to its MRP policy based on a more prudent charge to revenue, 
resulting in a significant budgetary saving for 2019-20 of £0.9 million, and 
approximately £0.8 million over the medium term.  

26 Within its MTFP 2019-20 to 2022-23, the Council planned to use reserves of £0.8 
million in 2020-21, with none beyond that. However, the Council is now revising its 
MTFP to take account of the recent provisional settlement from the Welsh 
Government which will eliminate the use of reserves in 2020-21. The January 2020 
Cabinet report on the Revenue Budget 2020-21 sets out that the Council is 
planning to contribute £300,000 to General Reserves in 2020-21, this will increase 
the Council’s general reserves to £5.0 million. 

  

Page 13



 

Page 12 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Exhibit 6: amount of reserves vs annual budget 2018-19  

This exhibit shows the amount of useable reserves the Council had during 2018-19 
compared with its net revenue budget for the same year. 

 

   

£117m £12.6m 11% 
Net Revenue Budget  Total Useable Reserves  Total Useable Reserves as 

a percentage of Net 
Revenue Budget 

Source: MTCBC Financial Sustainability Self Assessment 

The Council has a relatively low council tax collection rate 
which decreased in 2018-19 to its lowest since 2011-12  

Why council tax collection rates are important 

27 Failure to collect the amount of council tax due to the Council will result in less 
income. This in turn may increase the financial pressures on the Council and 
require it to make additional savings. Whilst council tax is not the biggest source of 
funding for councils in Wales, it remains a key income source. 

What we found 

28 In 2018-19 the Council’s council tax collection rate was 95.5%, this is its lowest 
level of collection since 2011-12 and is below the average of 96.1% for the three 
preceeding years. 

29 The council tax increase for 2019-20 was 5.99%, being higher than the 4.15% 
increase for 2018-19. The rate of 5.99% is assumed over the term of the March 
2019 MTFP. 

  

Page 14



 

Page 13 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Exhibit 7: council tax collection rates  

This exhibit shows the percentage of council tax due that the Council collected during 
2018-19. 

 

 

Income collected from 
Council Tax at 31 March 

2019 was £25.5m (95.5%) 
against a collectable debit 

of £26.7m 

Source: Northgate system report, 31 March 2019 

The Council has a relatively low level of borrowing and interest 
costs and has no borrowing to fund commercial activities  

Why maintaining sustainable levels of borrowing is important 

30 Borrowing can be a valuable source of funding, for example, to fund large scale 
capital projects such as new schools or leisure centres. However, the cost of 
repaying borrowing including interest costs can have a long-term impact on 
ongoing revenue budgets. Councils that fail to properly balance the benefits and 
costs of borrowing with their current and predicted revenue budgets risk reducing 
the amount of funding available for service delivery. Borrowing to fund commercial 
activity has the potential to generate additional income to fund council services, 
however, it can also bring significant risks that would be associated with any 
commercial activity. 

What we found 

31 As at 31 March 2019, the Council’s borrowings in gross terms were the lowest of 
all the councils in Wales, but this is not unexpected given the size of the Council. 
Borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board was £48.9 million and the Lender 
Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans totalled £12.0 million. The capital financing 
costs to serve this debt were £7.0 million in 2018-19. 

32 In recent years the Council has increased its reliance on unsupported borrowing to 
supports its capital programme.  

33 The change in MRP policy (see paragraph 25 above) will result in a lesser increase 
to capital financing costs over the short to medium term. 

Page 15



 

Page 14 of 16 - Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

34 The Council does not have any borrowing to fund commercial activities. We 
understand that the Council will be exploring opportunities to increase its income 
generation, which may include commercial activities. 

Exhibit 8: Council borrowing  

The exhibit below shows the total amount of money that the Council has borrowed to fund 
commercial investments, as well as the cost of all the borrowing that the Council has as a 
proportion of its net revenue budget. 

  

£0m 6.0% 
Amount of borrowing to fund commercial 

investments 
Cost of total borrowing as a proportion of 

net revenue budget 2018-19 

Source: MTCBC Financial Sustainability Self Assessment 

 

Page 16



Page 17



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 18

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Financial Sustainability of  
Local Government as a Result 
of the COVID-19 Pandemic

October 2020

Page 19



page 2 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales
Audit Wales
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff  
CF11 9LJ

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies 
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including 
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their 
resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise 
the Auditor General.

© Auditor General for Wales 2020

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, 
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself 
a legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described 
above, the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to providing staff and other resources for the 
exercise of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitoring and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. 
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The 
material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the 
title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. 
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or 
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not 
lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. Page 20



page 3 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Contents

Councils and the Welsh Government have worked well together 
to mitigate the impact of the pandemic to date but the future 
sustainability of the sector is an ongoing challenge. 

Summary report 4

Summary 4

Why we have produced this report 4

Detailed report 5

Councils and the Welsh Government have worked well together to  
mitigate the impact of the pandemic to date but the future sustainability  
of the sector is an ongoing challenge 5

Against a backdrop of existing funding pressures, the financial costs  
of the pandemic are unprecedented in modern times  5

Some councils were better placed financially than others to respond  
to the challenges of the pandemic 6

The cost of the pandemic to councils is significant, although a large  
proportion of the short-term impact has been mitigated through the  
provision of extra funding  12

The financial challenges arising from the pandemic are numerous  
and go well beyond the more immediate and obvious costs of  
responding to the crisis 14

Audit Wales future work – supporting financial sustainability  
and recovering planning 15

Page 21



page 4 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Summary

Why we have produced this report
1 We had already identified financial sustainability as a key risk to councils’ 

arrangements before the pandemic occurred. This was, in part, due to the 
significant pressures on UK and, therefore, Welsh public finances following 
the financial crisis of 2008-09. We produced a report on the financial 
sustainability of each local council during 2019-20, and these reports 
showed that councils were in very different positions in terms of their level 
of reserves and track record of spending within their agreed budgets.

2 Against this backdrop the pandemic has already had an even more 
profound and immediate effect on public sector finances as a whole and, 
as a consequence, on councils’ financial position. The impact on public 
sector spending over such a short period of time is unprecedented in 
modern peace time.

3 This report is the beginning of our work looking at the financial sustainability 
of local councils during 2020-21, building on the work we completed in 
2019-20. The report sets a high-level baseline position, including the 
reserves position, of local councils before the pandemic. It also sets out the 
initial financial implications of the pandemic for local councils and the scale 
of the anticipated challenge going forward, as well as some reflections on 
the preparedness of local government in Wales for such an unprecedented 
event. Finally, we set out how Audit Wales intends to provide support and 
constructive challenge to councils and the local government sector, as a 
whole, over the remainder of 2020-21, in their efforts to maintain financial 
sustainability against such significant funding pressures.

Summary report

Page 22



page 5 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Detailed report

Councils and the Welsh Government have worked 
well together to mitigate the impact of the pandemic 
to date but the future sustainability of the sector is  
an ongoing challenge

Against a backdrop of existing funding pressures, the financial 
costs of the pandemic are unprecedented in modern times
4 Local government funding in Wales has been under significant pressure 

for over a decade, following the financial crisis in 2008-09 that triggered a 
severe worldwide recession.

5 In response to this, councils have relied on a combination of significant 
savings for example through efficiencies, transforming services and cuts 
to services to reduce costs. Councils have also increased their income 
through council tax and the fees and charges applied to some services. 
Our previous reports on the financial sustainability and resilience of local 
councils, including our work on savings planning in local government, 
includes more detail on this. These reports are available on the Audit 
Wales website.

6 Against this backdrop, the cost to public spending of tackling the pandemic 
will seemingly dwarf the cost of the financial crisis, affecting health and 
wellbeing, the wider economy and public spending. Below are just some of 
the predictions that the Office for Budget Responsibility has made recently 
(July 2020):
•	 net UK public sector borrowing to be between £264 billion  

and £391 billion for 2020-21;
•	 UK GDP will shrink by between 10.6% and 14.3%; and
•	 borrowing to fund public spending will rise to between 94.8%  

and 113.2% of GDP over 2020-21.

Page 23

https://audit.wales/publications?combine=financial+sustainability&field_topics_tid_i18n=All&field_sectors_tid_i18n=55&created_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All
https://audit.wales/publications?combine=financial+sustainability&field_topics_tid_i18n=All&field_sectors_tid_i18n=55&created_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All


page 6 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

7 It is highly unlikely that the financial impact of the pandemic will be limited 
to the current financial year. It will almost certainly affect public sector 
finances including local government, for many years to come regardless 
of the future path of the pandemic. In an earlier blog in June 2020, we set 
out how £2.5 billion additional funding has been allocated to, and within, 
Wales in response to COVID-19. This illustrates the scale of the financial 
response to date. As with many things associated with the pandemic, 
things continue to change rapidly with further funding announcements from 
both the UK and Welsh Governments. ‘The Local Government Hardship 
Fund’ now makes available nearly £500 million in support including an 
announcement from the Welsh Government of up to £264 million in 
financial support for local authorities for the remainder of the financial year 
on 17 August 2020. Other funding available has also been made available 
for local authorities in addition to the hardship fund, for example in relation 
to extra funding for teachers for catch up support from education, cleaning 
materials for schools and part of the cultural fund.

Some councils were better placed financially than others to 
respond to the challenges of the pandemic
8 Over 2019-20 we looked at the financial sustainability of councils in Wales 

and produced a report on each council. Publication of some of these 
reports was delayed by the pandemic but most are now available on our 
website.

9 The reports show that some councils were much better placed than others 
to weather a financial challenge such as the pandemic. This is most 
clearly illustrated by the varying levels of usable revenue reserves held 
by councils, their track record of spending within their agreed budgets in 
recent years and, linked to this, the extent to which their usable revenue 
reserves have been increasing or decreasing in recent years. We also 
think that the ability of councils to identity, plan and deliver savings is a key 
indicator of financial sustainability.

10 The report Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the 
Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting by Sir Tony Redmond 
noted that:

‘This suggests that the external auditor should report to Full Council 
on risks identified and conclusions reached, in a transparent and 
understandable format. To be of most use, such a report would need 
to be timely.’1

11 The report also summarises CIPFA’s pillars of financial resilience and 
indicators of financial stress2. These are presented in Exhibit 1 below and 
include several areas that we commented on in our work in 2019-20.

1 Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of Local 
Authority Financial Reporting, Sir Tony Redmond, September 2020

2 building financial resilience: managing financial stress in local authorities, CIPFA, June 2017Page 24

https://walesauditoffice.wordpress.com/2020/06/24/welsh-government-covid-19-funding/
https://audit.wales/publications?combine=financial+sustainability&field_topics_tid_i18n=All&field_sectors_tid_i18n=55&created_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All
https://audit.wales/publications?combine=financial+sustainability&field_topics_tid_i18n=All&field_sectors_tid_i18n=55&created_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review


page 7 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Exhibit 1: CIPFA Pillars of Financial Resilience3

12 Exhibit 2 shows the level of usable revenue reserves held by each council 
at 31 March 2019 and then at 31 March 2020, together with the amount by 
which they increased or decreased over that time. Exhibit 2 shows that, 
in total, councils held over £1 billion usable reserves at the end of March 
2020. We commented above that for 2020-21 additional funding from 
the Welsh Government has largely mitigated the financial impact of the 
pandemic on local councils. However should the impact of the pandemic 
continue into future years, it may be the case that councils will need to 
increasingly use their reserves to meet additional costs or supplement 
income losses. 

13 We would expect differences in the level of reserves held by each council 
with, for example, those councils with larger net cost of services are likely 
to hold higher levels of reserves. Exhibit 3 shows the amount of reserves 
held by each council as a percentage of their net cost of services. This 
varies considerably between councils, with the usable reserves as a 
percentage of the net cost of services varying from 33% to 5%.

3 Taken from the Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency 
of Local Authority Financial Reporting, Sir Tony Redmond, September 2020

• Clear plans for delivering savings

• Getting routine financial 
management right

• Benchmarking against nearest 
neighbours – eg unit costs, 
under/overspends by service 
area, underrecovery of income

• Managing reserves over 
the medium-term financial 
planning horizon

PILLARS 
OF FINANCIAL 

RESILIENCE

• Increase gaps in saving plans 
(ie where proposals are still to 
be identified)

• Running down reserves

• Failure to deliver planned 
savings. Shortening medium 
term financial planning 
horizons

• Increase unplanned overspends 
in service delivery departments

INDICATORS 
OF FINANCIAL 

STRESS

Page 25



page 8 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

14 However, the level of usable reserves should be treated with some 
caution. Whilst we have defined this as the level of revenue reserves 
including ‘earmarked’ reserves and ‘general fund’ reserves that could be 
re-purposed should the council decide to do so, we recognise in practise 
that some reserves would be easier to re-purpose than others, depending 
on what they have been earmarked for. 

15 There are clearly a range of factors that could affect a council’s financial 
sustainability as we noted above. These also include but are not limited 
to its balance sheet, level of liabilities and also other funding that it has 
available that could be re-directed such as contingency funds that are not 
part of reserves. Nevertheless, clearly a council with significantly higher 
levels of revenue reserves relative to its net cost of services that have 
been increasing in recent years, indicates that its financial position is more 
sustainable than a council with lower reserves that have been reducing 
over several years. Particularly where reserves have been used to fund 
unforeseen revenue expenditure. 

16 The table below sets out the level of usable revenue reserves held by 
each local council at the end of 2018-19 and 2019-20. By usable reserves 
we mean the total general fund balance, together with earmarked 
reserves that councils are not legally prevented from redirecting to use  
for another purpose.

What we mean by ‘usable reserves’

Reserves usable for revenue costs, where the 
purpose is not protected by law. This is the total 
of the general fund, earmarked reserves and 
schools balances. It excludes the HRA, Capital 
receipts and capital grants unapplied.

Page 26



page 9 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Exhibit 2: amount of usable reserves by local authority 2018-19 and 2019-20

Net cost  
of services 

2019-20  
in £0004

Usable 
revenue 

reserves at  
31 March 2019

in £0005

Usable 
revenue 

reserves at  
31 March 2020

in £0006

 Increase/
(decrease) in 

usable revenue 
reserves between 

2019 and 2020  
in £0007

Blaenau Gwent £148,762 £12,725 £14,056 £1,331

Bridgend £289,242 £56,883 £64,562 £7,679

Caerphilly £370,910 £90,896 £100,547 £9,651

Cardiff £712,111 £67,969 £69,149 £1,180

Carmarthenshire £373,888 £93,898 £100,837 £6,939

Ceredigion £155,817 £24,192 £27,688 £3,496

Conwy £237,279 £14,114 £11,005 (£3,109)

Denbighshire £207,366 £38,047 £36,434 (£1,613)

Flintshire £315,765 £27,334 £24,318 (£3,016)

Gwynedd £250,149 £64,885  £71,090 £6,205

Isle of Anglesey £143,705 £15,271 £16,017 £746

Merthyr Tydfil £118,608 £16,743 £15,875 (£868)

Monmouthshire £177,834 £13,741 £15,246 £1,505

Neath Port Talbot £306,961 £61,394 £59,093 (£2,301)

Newport £313,904 £94,742 £78,806 (£15,936)

Pembrokeshire £240,375 £46,435 £45,746 (£689)

Powys £276,153 £26,758 £28,584 £1,826

Rhondda Cynon Taf £529,390 £119,470 £119,873 £403

Swansea £444,555 £77,022 £93,752 £16,730

Torfaen £186,602 £18,690 £16,738 (£1,952)

Vale of Glamorgan £248,602 £81,161 £83,008 £1,847

Wrexham £257,842 £28,944 £26,205 (£2,739)

Total £6,305,820 £1,091,314 £1,118,629 £27,315

4 Draft statement of accounts for 2019-20 subject to audit. Value used is the net cost of 
services charged to the general fund from the Expenditure Funding Analysis, less any 
Housing Revenue Account cost of services, plus precepts, levies and debt interest

5 Audited Statement of Accounts for 2018-19
6 Draft Statement of Accounts for 2019-20 subject to audit 
7 Audit Wales calculations Page 27



page 10 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

17 The exhibit below sets out the level of usable revenue reserves held by 
each local council at the end of 2019-20 as a proportion of the net cost of 
services of each council.

Exhibit 3: amount of usable reserves as a proportion of the net cost of 
services of each council

■ Usable revenue reserves as a % of net cost of services8

8 Usable reserves at 31 March 2020 as a proportion of net cost of services 2019-20 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Wrexham

Vale of Glamorgan

Torfaen

Swansea

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Powys

Pembrokeshire

Newport

Neath Port Talbot

Monmouthshire

Merthyr Tydfil

Isle of Anglesey

Gwynedd

Flintshire

Denbighshire

Conwy

Ceredigion

Carmarthenshire

Cardiff

Caerphilly

Bridgend

Blaenau Gwent 9%

22%

27%

10%

27%

18%

5%

18%

8%

28%

11%

13%

9%

19%

25%

19%

10%

23%

21%

9%

33%

10%

Page 28



page 11 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

18 As shown above, at the end of the 2019-20 financial year councils held 
over £1 billion in usable revenue reserves, which equates to 18% of the 
total net cost of service across all councils. However, this is not evenly 
spread across councils, and it is also clear that some councils hold 
significantly more reserves than others relative to their approximate net 
cost of services. Although this is a relatively simplistic analysis, the level 
of usable reserves available to a council is one of the key indicators of 
financial resilience and sustainability. 

19 From the work we undertook during 2019-20, that largely focused on the 
position at the end of the 2018-19 financial year, we identified some of the 
following themes that pre-date the pandemic but may well impact on the 
ability of councils to respond to it. These include:
•	 most councils reported either relatively small underspends or 

overspends overall in 2018-19 and it was a similar picture for 2017-18.
•	 some councils relied on the unplanned use of reserves to balance their 

budgets during 2018-19. This approach is unlikely to be sustainable, 
particularly in those councils whose levels of usable reserves were 
already relatively low.

•	 some councils relied on planned use of reserves as part of budget 
setting. Whilst this may have been planned at the start of the financial 
year, nevertheless, consistently using reserves, even in a planned 
way, to balance revenue expenditure is unlikely to be sustainable if this 
contributes to declining levels of reserves. 

•	 most councils, including those who delivered an overall surplus, still 
had some significant overspends in some demand-led services, with 
services such as social services being an area of overspend in many 
councils. Pressure on many demand-led services is likely to intensify 
as a result of the pandemic.

•	 most councils delivered most of their savings, but very few delivered all 
of their planned savings in 2018-19. 

Page 29



page 12 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The cost of the pandemic to councils is significant, although a 
large proportion of the short-term impact has been mitigated 
through the provision of extra funding 
20 The costs to councils in responding to the pandemic have been 

unprecedented both in their scale and the speed with which they have 
arisen. Additional funding has been made available to councils to mitigate 
these costs, however, the extent to which this will fully fund the cost of 
dealing with the pandemic, particularly over the medium to long term, is 
unknown. This is partly inevitable due to the rapidly developing picture in 
terms of the progress of the pandemic, as well as its economic impact. 
This picture will also change considerably depending on whether or not 
there are future waves of the pandemic, and how many and how severe 
they might be.

21 The pandemic has affected local government finances both in terms 
of increased costs and loss of income. Exhibit 4 shows the estimated 
additional net expenditure and income loss that councils have estimated 
as a result of the pandemic for the first six months of the 2020-21 financial 
year for quarter 1 and quarter 2. 

22 The biggest areas of increased cost pressures so far are in social services 
and education.

23 Councils receive income from a range of services including leisure 
facilities, car parking, school meals and school transport. The largest 
estimated income losses are in leisure and cultural services.

24 It is also clear that the financial impact of the pandemic is likely to continue 
throughout 2020-21 and into future years.

25 Exhibit 4 sets out the total amount of additional expenditure and income 
loss that local authorities have estimated as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, based on submission from local authorities to the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA).

Page 30



page 13 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Exhibit 4: total estimated additional net expenditure and income loss 
across the 22 unitary authorities in Wales as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic

Estimated additional net 
revenue expenditure 

Estimated revenue 
income loss as a result of 

COVID-19

Quarter 1 (Apr-Jun) £84.2 million £100.1 million 

Quarter 2 (Jul-Sept) £81.3 million £59.7 million

Source: WLGA 

26 Public services have been significantly impacted by the pandemic and, 
in this context, mitigating the impact on councils will not only depend on 
the actions that they are able to take, but also to a large degree on the 
amount of resources allocated by governments. We recognise that a 
key issue for councils in trying to financially plan over the medium term 
remains uncertainty around both the level of funding they will receive 
from government, and their own income streams, such as council tax and 
fees and charges. Added to this is the uncertainty around the potential 
future costs associated with the pandemic. We note above that Welsh 
Government made nearly £500 million available for councils through the 
Local Government Hardship Fund as well as other additional funding.

27 This has mitigated local councils additional costs and income losses to 
date, but depending on the future course of the pandemic, there may still 
be a significant funding shortfall for local authorities during 2020-21. Welsh 
Government has also accelerated access to the Revenue Support Grant 
and other funding streams early in the financial year to help councils’ 
cashflow. Welsh Government also announced in August 2020 an extra 
£2.8 million for councils to help fund the increase in demand on the Welsh 
Government’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) since the start of 
the pandemic. There is clearly uncertainty surrounding the future course 
of the pandemic and therefore the costs and income loss associated 
with it. This poses a considerable challenge to both local and national 
governments in supporting the sustainability of the local government 
sector. We recognise the many uncertainties around the course of the 
pandemic and the future funding that will be available to councils. This 
makes it more difficult for councils, and governments, to plan over the 
medium term. However to ensure the future sustainability of councils, 
robust medium term financial planning is crucial.

28 Our local work on financial sustainability will continue to examine the extent 
to which councils face a budget shortfall for this and future years, and their 
plans to mitigate this in the context of future Welsh Government funding. 

Page 31



page 14 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The financial challenges arising from the pandemic are 
numerous and go well beyond the more immediate and obvious 
costs of responding to the crisis
29 The pandemic is likely to affect almost every aspect of local government 

services, and therefore finances. The income loss and additional 
expenditure costs noted above are a significant element of this. But even 
as services re-open in the short to medium term, there will be added costs 
around the provision of personal protective equipment for staff and for other 
safety measures. For example, as schools re-open in September, there are 
likely to be costs associated with the re-introduction of school transport. 

30 At the same time, it is likely that income streams such as from leisure 
centres and car parks will continue to be affected, due to safety 
requirements and/or potentially less demand for services. The economic 
impact of the pandemic is also likely to have wider repercussions for 
people’s ability to pay for services, particularly those that they may view 
as ‘non-essential’. This could also lead to an increase in eligibility for 
concessionary pricing schemes, which might also affect the level of 
income that councils are able to draw in.

31 As the economic impact of the pandemic deepens, it is also likely that 
income from council tax will fall, as well as housing revenue for those 
councils that still hold their own housing stock. 

32 The sustainability of some services may be under threat with particular 
pressures likely to be felt in areas such as leisure services and the social 
care sector. The WLGA has also identified significant cost pressures in some 
service areas, most notably social services and education. By 2022-23  
it estimates that the combined costs pressures in these services alone  
will equate to approximately £600 million.

33 Given the breadth, and depth, of the impact of the pandemic to date, 
alongside the uncertainty surrounding its future course, local 
authorities are likely to face difficult choices over the short 
and medium term. In this context, good strategic financial 
planning and robust governance and decision-making 
arrangements become even more important.

Page 32



page 15 Financial Sustainability of Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Audit Wales future work – supporting financial sustainability 
and recovering planning
34 Over 2020-21, in keeping with our commitment to support public bodies’ 

response to the pandemic, we will work with councils to gain assurance 
that they are putting in place proper arrangements to secure financial 
sustainability. In doing so, we will seek to gather and share real-time 
learning and practice across the public sector. The focus of our financial 
sustainability work over 2020-21 will be on the issues identified above and 
how councils are planning for a sustainable recovery over the medium 
and long term. This work will also run alongside our support and challenge 
of recovery planning and the work we are undertaking through our 
‘COVID-19 learning project’. We will shortly be engaging with councils to 
discuss the next phase of our financial sustainability work in more detail.

Page 33

https://www.audit.wales/news/positioning-statement-auditor-general-wales


Audit Wales

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Page 34

mailto:info%40audit.wales?subject=info%40audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales


‘Raising our Game’: tackling 

fraud in Wales

A national and local picture

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4



The scale of fraud I

• The Crime Survey for England and Wales recognises fraud as one of the 

most prevalent crimes in society today. 

• The Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE) estimates that 

organisations lose 5% of their annual revenues to fraud. Worldwide, this 

yields an annual economic loss of £60 trillion.

• Cabinet Office estimate an upper and lower range for likely losses in 

government spend between 0.5% and 5% of expenditure.

• Applying the Cabinet Office estimates to annual devolved expenditure in 

Wales of around £20 billion gives a possible estimated value of losses to 

fraud and error in the Welsh public sector of £100 million to £1 billion per 

annum. 

P
age 36



The scale of fraud II

• Some public sector leaders are sceptical about the levels of fraud within 

their organisations.

• They put little resource into counter-fraud arrangements and assign a low 

priority to investigating cases of potential fraud identified to them by the 

National Fraud Initiative.

• Their stance runs contrary to all the research being done by recognised 

leaders in the field such as CIPFA and the UK Government.

• Such scepticism is not based on any significant local counter-fraud work or 

fraud risk assessments. 

• Fraudsters appear the very instant that an opportunity presents itself. 

Fifteen individuals have to date been jailed for fraud in the light of the 

Grenfell fire tragedy. Scammers were quickly on the scene whilst the 

flooding in South Wales was ruining the homes and lives of local people. 

There has been an explosion in fraudulent activity, and especially in cyber-

crime, during the current Covid-19 pandemic. 

P
age 37



• Our Phase 1 report (June 2019) provided an overview of the 

counter-fraud landscape across the Welsh public sector. 

• The report does not examine the scope or effectiveness of 

arrangements at a local level. But:

� the losses caused by fraud in the public sector are significant. In a 

time of austerity, every pound lost to fraud is a pound that could be 

spent on public services;

� fraud in all its forms is constantly evolving, so counter-fraud 

measures need to keep pace with the fraudsters; and 

� resources devoted to counter-fraud activity vary widely across the 

public sector in Wales. We believe there is scope for greater 

collaboration and cross-agency working to combat the fraudsters. 

Counter fraud Phase I Study

P
age 38



We asked the following questions at 40 audited bodies in Wales:

� Does the top tier demonstrate a commitment to counter-fraud and provide 

the necessary leadership to fight fraud? 

� Does the organisation have a suitable structure and sufficient skilled 

resources to prevent and detect fraud? 

� Does the organisation have a sound policy framework to support effective 

counter-fraud arrangements? 

� Does the organisation have an effective fraud risk assessment together 

with appropriate responses to emerging issues?

� Does the organisation’s internal control environment support effective 

arrangements for preventing and detecting fraud? 

� Does the organisation have an appropriate response to fraud?

� Does the organisation have proper reporting and scrutiny in place to 

ensure its counter-fraud culture and framework is operating effectively?

Phase II study

P
age 39



We have identified a number of improvement opportunities to:

� strengthen strategic leadership, co-ordination and oversight for 

counter-fraud across the Welsh public sector;

� increase counter-fraud capacity and capabilities, especially across 

local government, and exploring the potential for sharing resources 

and expertise across public bodies;

� get the right balance between proactive and reactive counter-fraud 

activities;

� improve awareness-raising and staff training in counter-fraud; and

� better evaluate fraud risks and sharing of fraud information, both 

within and across sectors.

Key national findings

P
age 40



Phase I overview of sector: Local 

Government

P
age 41



Phase I overview of sector: Local 

Government

P
age 42



Phase I overview of sector: Local 

Government

P
age 43



• Across local authorities there is an absence of sector-wide strategic leadership, 

guidance, co-ordination and oversight of counter-fraud. 

• Within the individual authorities we found statements espousing a zero tolerance of 

fraud in policies and strategic documents but there is much more that can be done to 

re-enforce the tone from the top at a practical level. 

• Many local authorities have invested so little in counter-fraud arrangements that they 

have only a few of the key components in place. 

• Many local authorities have not prepared a fraud risk assessment for several years. 

• Lack of capacity remains a challenge as reported in phase I. 

• A small number of authorities have retained experienced and skilled counter-fraud 

staff, but the workload has mostly fallen on Internal Audit teams. 

• Counter-fraud arrangements are generally more advanced in the local authorities that 

retained a dedicated and specialist counter-fraud resource. 

• Where Internal Audit teams carry out the counter-fraud work we found a trade-off 

between counter-fraud work and the general programme of assurance work due to 

limited resources and competing priorities. 

Key national findings: Local 

Government

P
age 44



• Pooling and sharing resources needs to be considered as a solution. 

• Other than NFI, only a few examples found of data analytics being used as a means 

of preventing fraud. 

• Within some local authorities, several teams play a role in counter-fraud work; for 

example, Internal Audit, Council Tax, and Human Resources teams all contribute. 

Whilst helpful in terms of adding capacity, this can result in a lack of coordination and 

integration between these teams and a lack of clarity in the overall picture of counter-

fraud activity.

• Some local authorities did not have a fraud response plan that was communicated to 

all staff and which made it clear that all allegations of fraud would be investigated. 

• There were very few examples of local authorities working frequently across internal 

and external boundaries and sharing information. Common reasons for this lack of 

collaboration was lack of time and resources, and concerns about the sharing of data.

• Fewer than half the authorities report information about fraud cases, losses and 

recoveries to their audit committees on a regular basis

• Audit committees outside of the NHS Wales have not been sufficiently proactive in 

recognising the increasing risk of fraud and in asking the searching questions 

necessary about the matching of resources to risk or about the lack of information 

being supplied about fraud risk.

Key national findings: Local 

Government

P
age 45



• Following the local work we did we wrote to the Council in February 2020 identifying 

some gaps in MTCBC’s counter-fraud arrangements. These were:

� A need to update the anti-fraud and corruption policy

� CMT to consider ways it can strengthen its approach to promoting the importance of a 

good anti-fraud culture

� The Council to consider ways it can do more proactive counter-fraud work

� Undertake a comprehensive fraud risk assessment to be discussed with CMT and 

Audit Committee

� Develop a Fraud Response Plan and communicate it to all staff

� Consider ways to provide an appropriate level of fraud related information to Audit 

Committee, and how Audit Committee can take a proactive role in promoting counter-

fraud matters and have more oversight of counter-fraud arrangements

Key local findings

P
age 46



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide members of the Audit Committee with the 

Annual Internal Audit Risk Based Plan for 2020/21. 
 
1.2 In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit 

must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The risk-based audit plan should 
cover the Council’s overall control environment including risk, governance and 
internal controls as far as practicable.   

 
1.3 The consideration of the Regional Internal Audit Service's Annual Risk Based Plan is 

one of the Audit Committee's key responsibilities.   
 
1.4 As a result of the significant changes to the way the Council was and is operating 

due to the outbreak of the pandemic in March 2020, it has been necessary to re 
evaluate the original draft plan prepared prior to this outbreak, and to develop a 
revised Risk Based Plan for 2020-21 which takes into account an updated 
assessment of risk as a result of COVID-19.  

 
1.5 The proposed Annual Risk Based Plan for 2020/21 is attached at Appendix A to this 

report.  It provides the Committee with an overview of the work to be undertaken and 
will offer sufficient coverage to be able to provide an opinion at the end of 2020-21 
whilst having regard to the unprecedented impact caused by the pandemic.  

 

Date Written 2nd October 2020 

Report Author Mark Thomas 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 12th October 2020 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



1.6 The revised plan is also more flexible than usual to be able to respond to changing 
circumstances and events that may occur such as a second wave/outbreaks, ability 
to access staff and evidence or requests to respond to new issues that may emerge 

 
1.7 Internal Audit work will be undertaken remotely using video conferencing (e.g. 

Microsoft Teams) and digital solutions as a basis for meetings and sharing 
documents and data. There is a need to learn what works and what does not work 
and also take account of pressures on particular services and individuals whilst 
conducting our work. 

 
1.8 The Audit Committee will receive updates on how the plan is being delivered and any 

changes that may be required as the year progresses. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Annual Internal Audit Risk Based Plan for 2020/21 be approved by Councillors. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Performance Standard - 

2010 Planning) provides the framework within which an internal audit plan should be 
compiled.   

 
3.2  In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards the Head of Internal Audit 

must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. 

 
3.3 To develop the risk-based plan, the Head of Internal Audit consults with senior 

management and the board and obtains an understanding of the organisation’s 
strategies, key business objectives, associated risks and risk management 
processes. The Head of Internal Audit must review and adjust the plan, as 
necessary, in response to changes in the organisation’s business, risks, operations, 
programmes, systems and controls. 

 
3.4 In order to produce the Internal Audit plan the following information is taken into 

account: 
 

• Corporate Risk Register;  
• Corporate Plan;  
• Key Financial Systems;  
• Grant Claims that require Internal Audit certification;  
• Follow-up reviews;  
• Audit reviews that are carried forward from the previous audit plan;  
• Discussions with the Corporate Management Team, including the Chief 

Executive, Section 151 Officer and other senior officers. 
 

Page 48



3.5 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require a risk-based audit plan to be 
produced to cover the Council’s overall control environment including risk, 
governance and internal controls as far as practicable.   

 
3.6 The consideration of the sources of information noted above, supports Internal Audit 

to achieve the following:  
• Comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards in compiling the draft 

Annual Audit Plan; 
• Enable Audit Committee to monitor the adequacy of the risk management 

framework and the associated control environment of the Council for 2020-21 
based on the audit reviews set out in the draft Annual Audit Plan; and  

• Enables the Head of Internal Audit to form an opinion on the risk, governance 
and internal controls of the organisation. 

 
3.7 The draft audit plan for 2020-21 was due to be presented to Audit Committee in 

March/April 2020 however the COVID-19 outbreak delayed the planning process as 
significant new risks and ways of working had to be considered to inform the Plan. 

 
 

4.0 KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

4.1 Urgent decisions were made in March 2020 in relation to how council services would 
need to operate in light of the pandemic and emergency arrangements were put in 
place around decision making and governance, in case they were needed, and 
normal Council and Committee meetings were suspended.  

 
4.2 In order to maintain continuity of service wherever possible, the Council moved 

extremely quickly to equip as many of its office-based staff with mobile technology to 
enable home-working within a very short timescale. Where roles for staff diminished 
as a result of reduced volumes of work or services not being delivered, opportunities 
for temporary redeployment were actively sought and implemented.  

 
4.3 As a result of the significant changes to the way the Council was and is operating it 

has been necessary to re-evaluate the original draft plan to develop a revised Risk 
Based Plan for 2020-21.  

 
4.4 The items identified in the original plan following the various consultation meetings 

held in January to March 2020 (prior to COVID-19) were included as a basis for this 
revised plan alongside an assessment of risk at that time. An updated assessment of 
risk as a result of COVID-19 has also been undertaken.  

 
4.5 It is recognised that there will be a different emphasis due to the impact of COVID-

19. Any changes in processes and controls arising from remote working will be 
factored in to every audit. 

 
4.6 Risks arising from COVID-19, availability of audit and service staff and challenges 

arising from the remote ways of working will all have an impact. The revised plan is 
also more flexible than usual to be able to respond to changing circumstances and 
events that may occur such as a second wave/outbreaks, ability to access staff and 
evidence or requests to respond to new issues that may emerge. 

Page 49



 
4.6 Internal Audit work will be undertaken remotely using video conferencing (e.g. 

Microsoft Teams) and digital solutions as a basis for meetings and sharing 
documents and data. There is a need to learn what works and what does not work as 
an approach in an iterative and proportionate way to take account of pressures on 
particular services and individuals whilst conducting our work. 

 
4.7 The proposed plan at Appendix 1 will offer sufficient coverage to be able to provide 

an opinion at the end of 2020-21 having regard to the unprecedented impact caused 
by the pandemic.  

 
4.8 The Audit Committee will receive updates on how the plan is being delivered and any 

changes that may be required in light of the experience of working in completely 
different circumstances and environment. 

 
 
 

5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no resource implications as a direct consequence of this report.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
MARK THOMAS 
HEAD OF REGIONAL AUDIT SERVICE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES  
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Audit Universe 

 
Audit Planning Files 

 

2020/21 
 

2020/21 

Internal Audit Office 
 

Internal Audit Office 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

  

Page 50



Appendix 1

REF NO SERVICE AREA ASSURANCE WORK

1 Corporate Annual Governance Statement

2 Corporate Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policies

3 Corporate Corporate Risks

4 Corporate Risk Management Systems and Procedures

5 Corporate COVID - Remote Working -  impact on governance and 
internal control arrangements using a questionnaire.

6 Corporate Ffos Y Fran - Contract and Royalty Payment Audit (Follow 
up)

8 Corporate ICT Audit Information Security ISO 27001 

9 Corporate Major Financial System - Cash Income

10 Corporate Major Financial System - Council Tax  

11 Corporate Major Financial System - Creditors

12 Corporate Major Financial System - NDR

13 Corporate Major Financial System - Treasury Management

14 Corporate Major Financial System -  Housing Benefit

15 Corporate Major Financial System -  Payroll

16 Corporate National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

17 Corporate Purchasing Cards

18 Neighbourhood Services Capital Contract Monitoring and Payment of Accounts 
and Valuations

19 Neighbourhood Services Final Accounts - Contracts

20 Neighbourhood Services Fleet Management(follow up)

21 Neighbourhood Services Property Maintenance Inspection Plans &  Regimes

22 Neighbourhood Services Vehicles Fuel System

23 Schools Cyfarthfa High  School

24 Schools Goetre Primary School

25 Schools Heolgerrig Primary School

26 Schools School Private Funds-monitoring arrangements

27 Schools Schools Meals Income System

28 Schools Schools Negative Balances

29 Schools & Corporate Certification of Grant Claims 
School Improvement Grant
Sunse

30 Social Services In House Fostering Services

31 Social Services Looked After Children Placements - Independent Fostering 
Services (IFAs)/Fostering and Provision for Foster Parents

32 Social Services Looked After Children Respite and Emergency Services

33 Social Services Safeguarding Adults & Children

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

INFORMATION REPORT - 
ISSUED INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Audit Committee of issued Internal Audit 

Reports.    
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Members determine any reports they wish to consider in more detail at a future 

meeting including receiving updates from appropriate officers on progress made in 
implementing recommendations.   

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Audit Committee of issued Internal Audit 

Reports. These are listed in table 1 below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 1st October 2020 

Report Author Mark Thomas/Helen Harbord  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 12th October 2020 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Table 1 
 

Report Title Audit Opinion No. of 
Recommendations 

 

Council Tax Key Controls B 2 

NNDR/Business Rates Key 

Controls 

C 2 

Heolgerrig Primary School B 13 

Goetre Primary School D 26 

Cyfarthfa High School D 41 

 
 
3.2 Copies of the full audit reports have been provided to Members via the Audit 

Committee icon on their Laptops.  
 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
MARK THOMAS 
HEAD OF REGIONAL INTERNAL AUDIT 
SERVICE 

 
COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 

CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 
AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Various Internal Audit 
reports 

 
Various 

  
Internal Audit Service 

 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 

Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Wales Audit Office - Financial Sustainability Assessment - Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Audit Wales National Financial Sustainability Report
	Financial Sustainability Assessment – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Summary
	What we reviewed and why
	What we found

	Despite a higher than expected settlement, the Council’s financial position is still challenging, and failure to deliver to budget or make planned savings risks depleting reserves to a low level
	While the Council’s medium-term financial plan sets out its forecast budget deficits, it does not set out how the Council is going to quickly improve its financial sustainability
	Why strategic financial planning is important
	What we found
	Exhibit 3: projected funding gap

	The Council’s performance against budget has fluctuated in recent years and it has therefore used a significant amount of reserves to finance the shortfall
	Why accurately forecasting expenditure is important
	What we found
	Exhibit 4: amount of overspend/underspend relative to total net revenue budget

	The Council needs to identify and deliver recurrent efficiency savings which will help to reduce the budget gap over the medium to long term
	Why the ability to identify and deliver savings plans is important
	What we found
	Exhibit 5: savings delivered during 2018-19 as a percentage of planned savings

	The Council is taking action to strengthen its low level of reserves and improve its financial resilience to unforeseen budget pressures
	Why sustainable management of reserves is important
	What we found
	Exhibit 6: amount of reserves vs annual budget 2018-19

	The Council has a relatively low council tax collection rate which decreased in 2018-19 to its lowest since 2011-12
	Why council tax collection rates are important
	What we found
	Exhibit 7: council tax collection rates

	The Council has a relatively low level of borrowing and interest costs and has no borrowing to fund commercial activities
	Why maintaining sustainable levels of borrowing is important
	What we found



	Apendix 1
	Financial Sustainability of  Local Government as a Result of the COVID-19 Pandemic
	Contents
	Summary report
	Summary
	Why we have produced this report 


	Detailed report
	Councils and the Welsh Government have worked well together to mitigate the impact of the pandemic t
	Against a backdrop of existing funding pressures, the financial costs of the pandemic are unpreceden
	Some councils were better placed financially than others to respond to the challenges of the pandemi
	The cost of the pandemic to councils is significant, although a large proportion of the short-term i
	The financial challenges arising from the pandemic are numerous and go well beyond the more immediat
	Audit Wales future work - supporting financial sustainability and recovering planning




	4 Audit Wales Presentation - Raising our Game: Tackling Fraud in Wales
	5 Internal Audit Plan 2020/21
	Appendix 1

	6 Internal Audit Information Reports

